
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that the City of Stoughton Joint Review Board will hold its annual 
meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below. 


 
 


Meeting of the:  


 


 


Date /Time: 
Location: 
 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON JOINT REVIEW BOARD (JRB) 


ANNUAL REVIEW  
THURSDAY, OCTOBER 14, 2021 – 3:45 p.m. 


**PLEASE NOTE** This is a teleconference meeting via GoToMeeting 
Access with a computer, tablet or smartphone via GoToMeeting - 
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/810457573 
You may also join by phone using dial-in number (877) 309-2073  
Access code 810-457-573 
Please sign-in to the meeting five minutes prior to the scheduled start time if 
possible 


  


Item # AGENDA 
1  Call to Order – Tim Swadley, Chair 
 
2  Roll Call – Tim Swadley, Chair 
 
3 Review and consideration of minutes from the February 1, 2021 meeting  
 
4 Presentation of the 2020 TID reports and status update of active TIDs 
 
5 Presentation of the August 31, 2021 TID 3 Audit Report 
 
6 Presentation of the December 31, 2020 TID 6 Audit Report 
 
7  Adjourn 
 
Any person wishing to attend the meeting, whom because of a disability, requires special accommodation, 
should contact the City Clerk’s Office at (608) 873-6692 at least 24 hours before the scheduled meeting 
time so appropriate arrangements can be made. In addition, any person wishing to speak or have their 
comments heard but does not have access to the internet should also contact the City Clerk’s Office at the 
number above at least 24 hours before the scheduled meeting so appropriate arrangements can be made.  
 
Other members of governmental bodies, committees, commissions and boards may be present to 
observe and gather information in regards to the agenda items as listed.  The only action taken will be 
that of the City of Stoughton Joint Review Board 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/810457573






CITY OF STOUGHTON JOINT REVIEW BOARD  
Monday, February 1, 2021 5:30 p.m.  
Remote GoToMeeting  


Present:  
Frank Sullivan, Mayor Tim Swadley, Sarah Ebert, Adam Gallagher, Laurie Grigg  


Absent and Excused:  
None 


Others Present:  
Dave Ferris (Ehlers), Director Friedl, Assistant Director Wiesen 


Call to Order:  
Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  


Roll Call:  
Mayor Swadley called the roll and noted that there were 5 members present.  


Approval of the January 11, 2021 JRB Meeting Minutes:  
Motion by Sullivan to approve the January 11, 2021 JRB meeting minutes, second by Grigg. 
Motion passed 5-0. 


Review the public record, planning documents, Planning Commission resolution adopting 
amendment to project plan, and resolution passed by the Common Council approving the 
amendment 
Dave Ferris from Ehlers provided a summary of what has transpired since January 11th meeting 
as it relates to the TIF No. 4 Amendment. 


Consideration and possible action on resolution approving Tax Incremental District No. 4’s 
Amendment  


Motion by Sullivan to approve the resolution approving Tax Incremental District No. 4’s 
Amendment, second by Gallagher. Motion passed 5-0. 


Adjournment 
Motion by Sullivan, second by Grigg to adjourn at 5:51 p.m.  


 


Respectfully Submitted, 
Jamin Friedl, CPA 
Director of Finance  








City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, 


No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Compiled Financial Statements 


December 31, 2020 
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020 


 
 


 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 
Table of Contents 
December 31, 2020 
 


    Page    


Accountants' Compilation Report 1 


Financial Statements 
 


Tax Incremental District No. 3 – Compiled Balance Sheet 2 


Tax Incremental District No. 3 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 3 


Tax Incremental District No. 3 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of 
Funds 4 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 – Compiled Balance Sheet 5 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 6 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of 
Funds 7 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 – Compiled Balance Sheet 8 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 9 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of 
Funds 10 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 – Compiled Balance Sheet 11 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 12 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of 
Funds 13 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 – Compiled Balance Sheet 14 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 15 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of 
Funds 16 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 – Compiled Balance Sheet 17 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 – Compiled Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 18 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 – Compiled Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of 
Funds 19 


Compiled Notes to Financial Statements 20 







 


1 


Accountants’ Compilation Report 
 
 
To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


Management is responsible for the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, 
Project Revenues and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of 
Sources, Uses and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, 
No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 (the Districts) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and from the date of 
creation through December 31, 2020, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services 
Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We did not audit or review the financial 
statements nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide 
any form of assurance on these financial statements. 


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of the Districts and do not 
purport to and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton as of December 31, 2020 
and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 


Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. 
Such missing information, although not a required part of the financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical or historical context.  


 
Madison, Wisconsin 
May 6, 2021 
 
 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 368,038$         
Taxes receivable 512,638           


Total assets 880,676$         


Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 512,638$         


Total deferred inflows of resources 512,638           


Fund Balance
Restricted 368,038           


Total deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 880,676$         


See notes to financial statements 
2







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     5,571,359$      
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 800                  143,811           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Developer payments -                       16,091             
Debt issuance cost -                       20,162             
Interest on long-term debt 8,029               1,423,004        
Transfer to other funds -                       181,304           
Contributions to other districts -                       1,106,252        


Total project costs 8,979               8,462,433        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 494,843           6,200,453        
Exempt computer aid 3,382               33,001             
Intergovernmental 9,391               11,707             
Developer guarantees -                       48,586             
Public charges for services -                       12,942             
Contribution from other district -                       742,340           
Transfer from other funds -                       181,304           
Investment income 1,665               67,974             
Land sales -                       1,383,920        
Miscellaneous revenues -                       148,244           


Total project revenues 509,281           8,830,471        


Net cost recovered through TIF increments,
December 31, 2020 (500,302)$        (368,038)$        


See notes to financial statements 
3







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 494,843$         6,200,453$      
Exempt computer aid 3,382               33,001             
Intergovernmental 9,391               11,707             
Developer guarantees -                       48,586             
Public charges for services -                       12,942             
Contribution from other district -                       742,340           
Transfers from other funds -                       181,304           
Investment income 1,665               67,974             
Land sales -                       1,383,920        
Miscellaneous revenues -                       148,244           
Long-term debt issued -                       6,257,496        


Total sources of funds 509,281           15,087,967      


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       5,571,359        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 800                  143,811           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Developer payments -                       16,091             
Debt issuance cost -                       20,162             
Contribution to other district -                       1,106,252        
Transfer to other funds -                       181,304           
Interest on long-term debt 8,029               1,423,004        
Principal on long-term debt 425,000           6,257,496        


Total uses of funds 433,979           14,719,929      


Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 75,302             368,038           


Beginning Fund Balance 292,736           -                       


Ending Fund Balance 368,038$         368,038$         


See notes to financial statements 
4







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 267,376$         
Taxes receivable 174,190           


Total assets 441,566$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 64,975$           


Total liabilities 64,975             


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 174,190           


Total deferred inflows of resources 174,190           


Fund Balance
Restricted 202,401           


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 441,566$         


See notes to financial statements 
5







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 904,311$         2,977,362$      
Administration (in-house) -                       70,139             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Revolving loan fund 135,000           250,000           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 11,734             315,670           
Debt issuance costs -                       26,075             
Interest on long-term debt 1,625               802,998           


Total project costs 1,052,820        4,442,694        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 180,369           2,822,498        
Exempt computer aid 1,775               59,345             
Intergovernmental 5,207               95,481             
Contribution from other districts -                       1,405,024        
Investment income 5,460               169,633           
Sale of property -                       5,550               
Miscellaneous revenue 43,662             43,662             
Developer guarantees -                       43,902             


Total project revenues 236,473           4,645,095        


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2020 816,347$         (202,401)$        


See notes to financial statements
6







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 180,369$         2,822,498$      
Exempt computer aid 1,775               59,345             
Intergovernmental 5,207               95,481             
Contribution from other districts -                       1,405,024        
Investment income 5,460               169,633           
Sale of property -                       5,550               
Miscellaneous revenue 43,662             43,662             
Developer guarantees -                       43,902             
Long-term debt issued -                       3,160,750        


Total sources of funds 236,473           7,805,845        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 904,311           2,977,362        
Administration (in-house) -                       70,139             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Revolving loan fund 135,000           250,000           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 11,734             315,670           
Debt issuance costs -                       26,075             
Interest on long-term debt 1,625               802,998           
Principal on long-term debt 100,000           3,160,750        


Total uses of funds 1,152,820        7,603,444        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (916,347)          202,401           


Beginning Fund Balance 1,118,748        -                       


Ending Fund Balance 202,401$         202,401$         


See notes to financial statements 
7







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 70,754$           
Taxes receivable 49,621             


Total assets 120,375$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Advance from city general fund 761,320$         


Total liabilities 761,320           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 49,621             


Total deferred inflows of resources 49,621             


Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit) (690,566)          


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 120,375$         


See notes to financial statements 
8







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     2,717,912$      
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 800                  50,257             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,450               
Interest on advances -                       96,965             
Debt issuance costs -                       18,157             
Interest on long-term debt 47,046             146,327           


Total project costs 47,996             3,031,068        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 50,678             80,825             
Transfer from other funds -                       100,000           
Exempt computer aid 39,592             199,169           
Intergovernmental -                       350,000           
Developer guarantees -                       130,168           
Investment income 229                  5,722               
Land sales -                       116,616           
Miscellaneous revenues -                       1,000               


Total project revenues 90,499             983,500           


Net cost to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2020 (42,503)$          2,047,568$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
General obligation debt 1,357,002$      
Add fund balance deficit 690,566           


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2020 2,047,568$      


See notes to financial statements 
9







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 50,678$           80,825$           
Transfers from other funds -                       100,000           
Exempt computer aid 39,592             199,169           
Intergovernmental -                       350,000           
Developer guarantees -                       130,168           
Investment income 229                  5,722               
Land sales -                       116,616           
Miscellaneous revenues -                       1,000               
Long-term debt issued -                       1,498,750        


Total sources of funds 90,499             2,482,250        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       2,717,912        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 800                  50,257             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,450               
Interest on advance -                       96,965             
Debt issuance costs -                       18,157             
Interest on long-term debt 47,046             146,327           
Principal on long-term debt 55,475             141,748           


Total uses of funds 103,471           3,172,816        


Deficiency of sources of funds over uses of funds (12,972)            (690,566)          


Beginning Fund Balance (Deficit) (677,594)          -                       


Ending Fund Balance (Deficit) (690,566)$        (690,566)$        


See notes to financial statements 
10







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 682,981$         
Taxes receivable 149,306           


Total assets 832,287$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 36,329$           
Advances from city general fund 140,399           


Total liabilities 176,728           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 149,306           


Total deferred inflows of resources 149,306           


Fund Balance
Restricted 506,253           


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 832,287$         


See notes to financial statements 
11







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 714,951$         2,601,076$      
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 33,260             144,528           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Debt issuance cost -                       36,163             
Interest on long-term debt 20,139             44,977             


Total project costs 768,500           2,827,194        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 24,831             49,368             
Investment income 8,488               38,956             
Developer guarantee 51,694             52,159             
Land Sales 173,230           173,230           
Premium on long-term debt -                       14,080             
Miscellaneous revenues -                       21,945             


Total project revenues 258,243           349,738           


Net cost recoverable through
TIF increments, December 31, 2020 510,257$         2,477,456$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
General obligation debt 2,983,709$      
Less fund balance (506,253)          


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2020 2,477,456$      


See notes to financial statements 
12







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 24,831$           49,368$           
Investment income 8,488               38,956             
Developer guarantee 51,694             52,159             
Miscellaneous revenues -                       21,945             
Land sales 173,230           173,230           
Premium on long-term debt -                       14,080             
Long-term debt issued -                       3,123,709        


Total sources of funds 258,243           3,473,447        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 714,951           2,601,076        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 33,260             144,528           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Debt issuance cost -                       36,163             
Interest on long-term debt 20,139             44,977             
Principal on long-term debt 50,000             140,000           


Total uses of funds 818,500           2,967,194        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (560,257)          506,253           


Beginning Fund Balance 1,066,510        -                       


Ending Fund Balance 506,253$         506,253$         


See notes to financial statements 
13







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 653,977$         
Taxes receivable 762,486           
Accounts receivable 41,106             


Total assets 1,457,569$      


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities


Accounts payable and deposits 3,545$             


Total liabilities 3,545               


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 778,328           


Total deferred inflows of resources 778,328           


Fund Balance
Restricted 675,696           


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 1,457,569$      


See notes to financial statements 
14







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     4,444,071$      
Administration (in-house) -                       32,511             
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 10,300             18,212             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  300                  
Debt issuance costs -                       102,678           
Interest on long-term debt 123,975           462,975           


Total project costs 134,425           5,060,747        


Project Revenues
Tax Increments 546,395           1,731,044        
Premium on long-term debt -                       160,820           
Investment income 2,405               30,922             
Intergovernmental grants -                       1,959               
Developer guarantees 32,914             66,424             
Miscellaneous revenue -                       15,274             


Total project revenues 581,714           2,006,443        


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2020 (447,289)$        3,054,304$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
Long-term debt  3,730,000$      
Less fund balance (675,696)          


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2020 3,054,304$      


See notes to financial statements 
15







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 546,395$                 1,731,044$              
Investment income 2,405                       30,922                     
Premium on long-term debt -                               160,820                   
Long-term debt issued -                               8,865,000                
Intergovernmental grants -                               1,959                       
Developer guarantees 32,914                     66,424                     
Miscellaneous revenue -                               15,274                     


Total sources of funds 581,714                   10,871,443              


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                               4,444,071                
Administration (in-house) -                               32,511                     
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 10,300                     18,212                     
Department of Revenue fees 150                          300                          
Debt issuance cost -                               102,678                   
Interest on long-term debt 123,975                   462,975                   
Principal on long-term debt 210,000                   5,135,000                


Total uses of funds 344,425                   10,195,747              


Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 237,289    675,696    


Beginning Fund Balance 438,407                   -                               


Ending Fund Balance 675,696$                 675,696$                 


See notes to financial statements 
16







City of Stroughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 187,496$         
Taxes receivable 30,337             
Prepaid items 529                  
Accounts receivable 37,950             


Total assets 256,312$         


Liabilities and Fund Balance (Deficit)


Liabilities


Accounts payable 22,051$           


Advance from city general fund 144,304           


Total liabilities 166,355           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 114,826           
Unavailable revenues 37,950             


Total deferred inflows of resources 152,776           


Fund Balance (Deficit)
Unassigned (deficit) (62,819)            


Total liabilities and fund balance (deficit) 256,312$         


See notes to financial statements 
17







City of Stroughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 74,484$           705,220$         
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,300               
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 50,005             142,792           
Debt issuance costs -                       3,783               
Interest on long-term debt 17,288             40,216             


Total project costs 141,927           893,311           


Project Revenues
   Intergovernmental 95,500             95,500             


Premium on long-term debt -                       1,625               
Investment income 289                  4,958               


Total project revenues 95,789             102,083           


Net cost to be recovered through
TIF incements, December 31, 2020 46,138$           791,228$         


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
Long-term debt  728,409$         
Add fund balance deficit 62,819             


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2020 791,228$         


See notes to financial statements 
18







City of Stroughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Historical Summay of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Investment income 289$                4,958$             
Intergovernmental 95,500             95,500             
Premium on long-term debt -                       1,625               
Long-term debt issued -                       728,409           


Total sources of funds 95,789             830,492           


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 74,484             705,220           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,300               
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 50,005             142,792           
Debt issuance cost -                       3,783               
Interest on long-term debt 17,288             40,216             


Total uses of funds 141,927           893,311           


Deficiency of sources of funds over uses of funds (46,138)            (62,819)            


Beginning Fund Balance (Deficit) (16,681)            -                       


Ending Fund Balance (Deficit) (62,819)$          (62,819)$          


See notes to financial statements 
19







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


20 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, 
No. 7 and No. 8 (the Districts) conform to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and 
as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton (the City) has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of the Districts. 
The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the Districts. The 
accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City.  


Description of Fund and Account Group Structure 


This report contains the financial information of the Districts. The summary statements were prepared 
from data recorded in the following funds and the City’s long-term debt: 


Debt Service Fund 
Capital Projects Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City's 
basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The Districts were created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose 
of that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvements costs in a 
designated area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the 
creation date of the Districts. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the Districts to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered or until 27 years, for TID Nos. 3, 4, 5 and 8 and 20 years for TID Nos. 6 and 7, after the 
creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date are absorbed 
by the City. Project costs may be incurred up to five years before the unextended termination date of 
the Districts. 


Original Project Plan 


  Creation Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs  
Last Year to Collect 


Increment 


 
TID No. 3  01/01/1993  11/24/2014  2020 
TID No. 4  01/01/1999  03/23/2021  2026 
TID No. 5  01/01/2010  03/12/2032  2037 
TID No. 6  01/01/2015  09/29/2030  2036 
TID No. 7  01/01/2015  11/11/2029  2035 
TID No. 8  01/01/2018  07/24/2040  2046 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


21 


Plan Amendments 


  Adoption Date  
 


TID No. 3 Amendment No. 1  10/23/2007  
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 2  10/23/2012  
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 1  09/26/2006  
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 2  01/12/2010  
TID No. 5 Amendment No. 1  07/24/2018  
TID No. 7 Amendment No. 1  05/20/2020  


 
Basis of Accounting 


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., 
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-
term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable or when the 
City is entitled to the aids. 


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future 
years are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments 
receivables as of the date of this report. 


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budgets 


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the Districts are adopted in the project plans. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the Districts and may not be comparable to interim results 
presented in this report.  







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


22 


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as Sources of Funds 
in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as expenditure 
in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is 
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the 
long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  


 
2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The Districts invest their funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments 
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or 
decreases in investment income. 


The Districts, as funds of the City, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the City. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City as an individual municipality and, accordingly, the amount of 
insured funds is not determinable for the Districts. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. 
Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the Districts' expenditures will be retired by tax increments 
accumulated by the District funds. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be made by 
future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 3          


03/18/93 Promissory Note – 6.00%  $ 189,950  $ 189,950  $ - 
10/01/93 Promissory Note – 4.40 – 6.00%   1,980,000   1,980,000   - 
05/01/02 Promissory Note – 3.50 – 4.375%   80,483   80,483   - 
09/16/02 Refunding Bonds – 3.00 – 3.75%   1,382,063   1,382,063   - 
06/26/13 State Trust Fund Loan – 2.75%   1,400,000   1,400,000   - 
06/01/14 Promissory Note – 2.00%   1,225,000   1,225,000   - 


Total  $ 6,257,496  $ 6,257,496  $ - 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


23 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 4          
          


02/23/99 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25%  $ 162,000  $ 162,000  $ - 
08/09/00 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25%   355,080   355,080   - 
06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10 – 4.60%   1,025,000   1,025,000   - 
06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10 – 4.60%   154,427   154,427   - 
06/15/03 Promissory Note – 3.00 – 3.375%   292,105   292,105   - 
06/22/04 State Trust Fund Loan – 4.00%   213,746   213,746    
04/14/09 Promissory Note 1.60 – 3.85%   163,392   163,392    
04/13/10 G.O. Refunding Bonds – 1.00 – 3.25%   795,000   795,000   - 


          
Total  $ 3,160,750  $ 3,160,750  $ - 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 5          


12/28/16 State Trust Fund Loan – 3.50%  $ 850,000  $ 94,787  $ 755,213 
06/08/17 G.O. Notes – 2.00 – 3.00%   300,000   46,961   253,039 
04/26/18 G.O. Notes – 3.25 – 4.00%   348,750   -   348,750 


          
Total  $ 1,498,750  $ 141,748  $ 1,357,002 


 
Aggregate maturities are as follows: 
 
 


Calendar       
    Year   Principal  Interest  Total 


 
2021  $ 67,708  $ 45,230  $ 112,938 
2022   111,461   42,389   153,850 
2023   115,700   38,500   154,200 
2024   117,673   34,490   152,163 
2025   131,411   30,209   161,620 
2026 – 2030   480,291   128,854   609,145 
2031 – 2035   272,421   4,152   276,573 
2036    60,337   2,116   62,453 


          
Total  $ 1,357,002  $ 325,940  $ 1,682,942 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 6          


06/08/17 Promissory Notes – 2.00 – 3.00%  $ 505,000  $ 140,000  $ 365,000 
03/26/19 Promissory Notes – 2.125 – 4.00%   2,618,709   -   2,618,709 


          
Total  $ 3,123,709  $ 140,000  $ 2,983,709 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


24 


Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the District are as follows: 
 


Calendar       
    Year   Principal  Interest  Total 


 
2021  $ 50,000  $ 83,730  $ 133,730 
2022   341,379   78,234   419,613 
2023   350,345   68,109   418,454 
2024   363,793   56,737   420,530 
2025    377,759   44,263   422,022 
2026 - 2029   1,500,433   68,943   1,569,376 


          
Total  $ 2,983,709  $ 400,016  $ 3,383,725 


 
Note Anticipation Notes 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 7          


10/21/15 Note Anticipation Notes 1.250%  $ 4,775,000  $ 4,775,000  $ - 
04/26/18 G.O. Bonds – 2.00 – 4.00%   4,090,000   360,000   3,730,000 


          
Total  $ 8,865,000  $ 5,135,000  $ 3,730,000 


 
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:  
 


Calendar       
    Year   Principal  Interest  Total 


 
2021  $ 215,000  $ 119,725  $ 334,725 
2022   220,000   114,275   334,275 
2023   225,000   107,600   332,600 
2024   235,000   100,700   335,700 
2025    240,000   93,575   333,575 
2026 - 2030   1,335,000   332,000   1,667,000 
2031 - 2034   1,260,000   80,988   1,340,988 


          
Total  $ 3,730,000  $ 948,863  $ 4,678,863 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 8          


04/26/18 G.O. Bonds – 2.00 – 4.00%  $ 426,250  $ -  $ 426,250 
03/26/19 Promissory Notes – 2.125 – 4.00%   302,159   -   302,159 


          
Total  $ 728,409  $ -  $ 728,409 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


25 


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:  
 


Calendar       
    Year   Principal  Interest  Total 


 
2021  $ -  $ 24,741  $ 24,741 
2022   88,621   23,136   111,757 
2023   92,405   19,857   112,262 
2024   93,957   16,394   110,351 
2025    97,741   12,743   110,484 
2026 - 2029   355,685   17,453   373,138 


          
Total  $ 728,409  $ 114,324  $ 842,733 


 
 
4. Advances From/Due to City General Fund 


The general fund is advancing funds to TIF Districts No. 5, No. 6 and No. 8. The amount advanced is 
determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources since the 
District's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.  


 
5. Increment Sharing  


As allowable under TIF statutes, the City may share positive TIF increments. In 1998 and again in 2003, 
the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor district, 
subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 3 (donee district). Such transfers are reflected as recoverable 
costs in the donor district and as project revenues in the donee district. TIF increment sharing was valid 
for a five-year period and was extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers 
between Districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes. 


In 2006, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor 
district, subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in 
2007. State statutes limit the number of years a District may share increments to ten. The increment 
sharing with TIF District No. 4 was allowable for years 2007 through 2009. TIF District No. 2 was closed in 
2009. 


In 2007, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor 
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five-year period. 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


26 


6. Transfers From Other Funds 


The City has transferred funds to TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 to cover deficits over the years. It is 
the intent of the City to have TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 repay the general fund for these transfers 
contingent upon future availability of funds. The following is a historical summary of transfers for 
TIF District No. 3: 


Years ending December 31:  
1993 $ 30,000 
1997  30,212 
1998  104,150 
2001  10,451 
2002  6,491 


   
Total $ 181,304 


 
TIF District No. 3 repaid the general fund in 2019. 


 
The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF District No. 5: 


Year ending December 31:  
2010 $ 100,000 


 
 
7. Developer Agreements 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement with North American Fur Auction (NAFA) where 
the City shall construct the City improvements and provide a noncash development incentive, by 
conveying a piece of land in the amount of $377,000. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017. During 
2020, NAFA declared bankruptcy. 


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse Developer for 
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017. 


 
8. Developer Payments  


No developer payments were made by TIF 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 for 2020. 


 
9. Guaranteed Revenue  


TIF District No. 3 has entered into a development agreement with Nelson Global Products, Inc. (the 
Developer). The agreement guarantees the City will receive a tax increment equal to the annual 
applicable mill rate multiplied by $3,750,000. The Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The Developer’s guarantee obligation 
shall terminate when the City has collected from the tax increment generated from the District or paid 
under the agreement not less than $320,600 or when TIF District No. 3 has terminated, whichever occurs 
first. There were no TIF guarantee payments received in 2020.  







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7 and No. 8 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


27 


TIF District No. 5 has entered into a development agreement with Movin’ Out Development, LLC (the 
Developer). The agreement guarantees that the Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
when the City has collected from the tax increment generated from the District or been paid under this 
agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $610,753 plus 5 percent interest accruing 
from January 1, 2012. There were no TIF guarantee payments received in 2020. 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with North American Fur Auction (NAFA). 
The agreement guarantees the assessed value of NAFA’s property will be not less than $1,100,000, 
$3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year 
2019, NAFA shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and 
the tax increment actually levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated. TIF 
guarantee payment received in 2020 was $51,694. 


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a development agreement with Kettle Park West, LLC (KPW). The 
agreement guarantees that beginning in calendar year 2018, the actual tax increment will be sufficient to 
fully pay the annual debt service on City borrowing. The Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
in 2034 or when the TIF District No. 7 has been terminated – whichever is sooner. TIF guarantee 
payment received in 2020 was $32,914. 


 
10. Municipal Revenue Obligation  


In 2020, the City issued a municipal revenue obligation as part of a development agreement. The amount 
of the obligation was $3,000,000 and is payable to the developer solely from tax increments collected 
from a specific portion of the development in TIF District No.7. 


Payments are scheduled through the year 2035 or when TIF District No. 7 has been terminated, 
whichever is sooner, and carry an interest rate of 6%. The obligation does not constitute a charge upon 
any funds of the City. In the event that future tax increments are not sufficient to pay off the obligation, the 
obligation terminates with no further liability to the city. Since the amount of future payments is contingent 
on the collection of future TIF increments, the obligation is not reported as a liability in the accompanying 
financial statements. The balance of the commitment outstanding at year end was $3,000,000. 


 
11. Affordable Housing Program Transfer  


During 2019, TIF District No. 3's life was extended by one year in accordance with Section 66.1105 (6) (g) 
of Wisconsin State Statutes. In August 2020, the city passed a resolution to terminate TIF District No. 3 
and the 2020 increment (2021 revenue) will be used to fund the affordable housing program.   


 
12. Subsequent Event  


In February 2021, the Joint Review Board approved an amendment to TIF District No. 4’s project plan 
making it a donor TID to share increments with TIF District Nos 5 and 8. 












City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 3 


Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Information 


August 31, 2021 







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3 
Table of Contents 
August 31, 2021 


 
 


 


 


 
       Page    
 
Independent Auditors' Report 1 
 
Financial Statements 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 3 - Balance Sheet 3 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 3 - Historical Summary of Project Costs,  


Project Revenues and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 4 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 3 - Historical Summary of Sources, Uses  


and Status of Funds 5 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 6 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 3 - Detailed Schedule of Sources,  


Uses and Status of Funds 10 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 3 - Detailed Schedule of Capital Expenditures 14 
 
Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 15 
 
 







Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


Report on the Financial Statements


We have audited the accompanying  Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues,
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses, and Status of
Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin's Tax Incremental District No. 3 (the District) as of August 31, 2021
and from the date of creation through August 31, 2021 and the related notes to the financial statements.


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditors' Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the District's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.


Opinion


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 3 and the net project costs recovered through tax
increments as of August 31, 2021 and  the sources, uses, and status of funds from the date of creation through
August 31, 2021, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


1


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.  © 2020 Baker Tilly US, LLP







Emphasis of Matter


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of City of Stoughton's Tax
Incremental District No. 3 and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of
Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of August 31, 2021, and the changes in financial position, or, where applicable, cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 


Other Matters


Required Supplementary Information


Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our
opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 3 financial statements. The supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or
to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly
stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.


Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements


We have also issued our report dated September 8, 2021 on our tests of its compliance with Wisconsin State
Statutes Section 66.1105. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 


Madison, Wisconsin
September 8, 2021


2







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Balance Sheet
Tuesday, August 31, 2021


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets
Cash and investments 249,680$           


Total assets 249,680$           


Liabilities and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 7,500$               
Payable to overlying districts 242,180             


Total liabilities 249,680             


Fund Balance -                         


Total liabilities and fund balance 249,680$           


See notes to financial statements
3







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and Net Cost Recovered 


Through Tax Increments
From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Project Costs
    Capital expenditures 5,571,359$    
    Administration 152,586         
    Developer payments 16,091           
    Debt issuance cost 20,162           
    Interest on long-term debt 1,423,004      
    Transfer to other funds 181,304         
    Transfer to Affordable Housing 512,638         
    Contributions to other district 1,106,252      


Total project costs 8,983,396      


Project Revenues
    Tax increments 6,713,091      
    Exempt computer aid 36,383           
    Intergovernmental 28,174           
    Developer guarantees 48,586           
    Public charges for services 12,942           
    Contributions from other district 742,340         
    Transfers from other fund 181,304         
    Investment income 68,011           
    Land sales 1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues 148,244         


Total project revenues 9,362,995      


Net cost recovered through tax increments, August 31, 2021 (379,599)        


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City 379,599         


Balance -$                   


See notes to financial statements
4







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Sources of Funds
    Tax increments 6,713,091$    
    Exempt computer aid 36,383           
    Intergovernmental 28,174           
    Developer guarantees 48,586           
    Public charges for services 12,942           
    Contributions from other district 742,340         
    Transfers from other fund 181,304         
    Investment income 68,011           
    Land sales 1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues 148,244         
    Long-term debt issued 6,257,496      


Total sources of funds 15,620,491    


Uses of Funds
    Capital expenditures 5,571,359      
    Administration 152,586         
    Developer payments 16,091           
    Debt issuance cost 20,162           
    Contributions to other district 1,106,252      
    Transfer to other funds 181,304         
    Transfer to Affordable Housing 512,638         
    Interest on long-term debt 1,423,004      
    Principal on long-term debt 6,257,496      


Total uses of funds 15,240,892    


Fund balance, August 31, 2021 379,599         


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City (379,599)        


Balance -$                   


See notes to financial statements
5







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3 
Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2021 


6 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 3 (the District) conform 
to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as defined by Wisconsin Statutes 
Section 66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental District No. 3. 
The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the City of Stoughton's Tax 
Incremental District No. 3. The accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of 
the City of Stoughton. 


Description of Fund Structure and Long-Term Debt 


This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 3. 
The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the following funds and the City’s 
long-term debt: 


 Debt Service Fund 
 Capital Projects Fund 
 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of 
Stoughton's basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The District was created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvement costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date 
of the District. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the District to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered, or until 27 years after the creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected 
at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five 
years before the unextended termination date of the District. 


Original Project Plan 


 Creation    
 Date  Termination Date  
     
TID No. 3 January 1, 1993  August 25, 2020  


 
Plan Amendment 


 Adoption   
 Date   
     
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 1 October 23, 2007    
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 2 October 23, 2012    


 
  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3 
Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2021 


7 


Basis of Accounting  


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual (i.e., 
both measurable and available). Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-
term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the 
District is entitled to the aids.  


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budget  


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the District are adopted in the project plan. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the District, and may not be comparable to interim results presented 
in this report.  


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" 
in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as an 
expenditure in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is 
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the 
long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.   







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3 
Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2021 


8 


2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The District invests its funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value 
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. 


The District, as a fund of the City, maintains separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the City. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual municipality and, accordingly, 
the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the District. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City of 
Stoughton. Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the District's expenditures will be retired by tax 
increments accumulated by the TIF District fund. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be 
made by future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 


      Original     
Title of  Date of  Interest  Amount    Balance 
Issue  Issue  Rates  Borrowed  Repaid  8-31-21 


           
Promissory Note  03/18/93  6.00  % $ 189,950 $ 189,950 $ -
Promissory Note  10/01/93  4.40-6.00     1,980,000 1,980,000  -
Promissory Note  05/01/02  3.50-4.375   80,483 80,483  -
Refunding Bonds  09/16/02  3.00-3.75   1,382,063 1,382,063  -
State Trust Fund Loan  06/01/14  2.75    1,400,000 1,400,000  -
Promissory Note  06/26/13  2.00    1,225,000 1,225,000  -
        
          Total      $ 6,257,496 $ 6,257,496 $  -


 
 
4. Increment Sharing 


As allowable under TIF statutes, the City may share positive TIF increments. In 1998, and again in 2003, 
the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor district, 
subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 3 (donee district). Such transfers are reflected as recoverable 
costs in the donor district, and as project revenues in the donee district. TIF increment sharing was valid 
for a five year period, and was extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers 
between districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes. 


In 2007, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor 
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five year period.  


 
  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3 
Notes to Financial Statements 
August 31, 2021 


9 


5. Transfers From Other Fund 


The City has transferred funds to TIF District No. 3 to cover deficits over the years. It is the intent of the 
City to have TIF District No. 3 repay the general fund for these transfers contingent upon future 
availability of funds. The following is a historical summary of transfers to TIF District No. 3: 


Years ending December 31:  
1993 $  30,000 
1997  30,212 
1998  104,150 
2001  10,451 
2002  6,491 
   


Total $ 181,304 


 
TIF District No. 3 repaid the general fund in 2019. 


 
6. Guaranteed Revenue 


TIF District No. 3 entered into a development agreement with Nelson Global Products, Inc. (the 
Developer). The agreement guaranteed the City to receive a tax increment equal to the annual applicable 
mill rate multiplied by $3,750,000. The Developer shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax 
increment and the tax increment actually levied. The Developer’s guarantee obligation terminated with the 
termination of TIF District No. 3.  


 
7. Affordable Housing Program Transfer 


During 2019, TIF District No. 3's life was extended by one year in accordance with Section 66.1105 (6) (g) 
of Wisconsin State Statutes. In August 2020, the City passed a resolution to terminate TIF District No. 3 
and the 2020 increment (2021 revenue) was used to fund the affordable housing program. 


 
8. Refund to Overlying Districts 


The refund to overlying districts is calculated based on increments collected in excess of project costs 
using the ratio of tax levies in the 2020 tax roll as follows:  


  Calculated 
Refund 


   
Dane County $  49,146
City of Stoughton  137,419
Stoughton School District  178,222
Madison Area Technical College  14,812


   
           Total $ 379,599


 
 







SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION







From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999


Sources of Funds
    Tax increments -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 10,982$       19,166$       37,806$        113,367$     
    Exempt computer aid -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Intergovernmental -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Developer guarantees -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Public charges for services -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Contributions from other district -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   115,672        49,490         
    Transfers from other fund -                   30,000         -                   -                   -                   30,212         104,150        -                   
    Investment income -                   -                   17,251         21,903         12,123         -                   -                    -                   
    Land sales -                   -                   70,885         82,947         248,992       32,433         25,000          178,452       
    Miscellaneous revenues -                   5,354           -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Long-term debt issued -                   2,169,950    -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   


Total sources of funds -                   2,205,304    88,136         104,850       272,097       81,811         282,628        341,309       


Uses of Funds
    Capital expenditures -                   1,437,137    306,811       42,180         70,334         22,729         2,287            8,662           
    Administration 11,688         3,313           3,073           4,275           2,620           425              1,545            3,041           
    Developer payments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Debt issuance cost -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Contributions to other district -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Transfer to other funds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Transfer to Affordable Housing -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                   
    Interest on long-term debt -                   -                   96,157         115,306       96,546         88,657         88,606          79,956         
    Principal on long-term debt -                   -                   60,000         123,463       131,487       70,000         75,000          80,000         


Total uses of funds 11,688         1,440,450    466,041       285,224       300,987       181,811       167,438        171,659       


Fund balance, August 31, 2021


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City


Balance


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds


10







From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Sources of Funds
    Tax increments
    Exempt computer aid
    Intergovernmental
    Developer guarantees
    Public charges for services
    Contributions from other district
    Transfers from other fund
    Investment income
    Land sales
    Miscellaneous revenues
    Long-term debt issued


Total sources of funds


Uses of Funds
    Capital expenditures
    Administration
    Developer payments
    Debt issuance cost
    Contributions to other district
    Transfer to other funds
    Transfer to Affordable Housing
    Interest on long-term debt
    Principal on long-term debt


Total uses of funds


Fund balance, August 31, 2021


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City


Balance


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds


2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007


88,872$         92,800$         98,603$         102,499$       123,576$       152,719$       158,664$       177,725$     
-                     -                     -                     817                335                500                324                376              
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   


56,349           60,349           57,898           67,743           112,671         115,619         106,549         -                   
-                     10,451           6,491             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   


24,760           79,213           62,530           -                     92,377           -                     -                     147,480       
-                     320                525                45,436           -                     57,057           35,343           -                   
-                     -                     1,462,546      -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   


169,981         243,133         1,688,593      216,495         328,959         325,895         300,880         325,581       


1,057             1,548             49,527           -                     -                     -                     135,324         -                   
960                -                     2,156             2,282             2,589             836                660                9,788           


-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                   


75,157           70,800           83,903           56,021           51,564           49,923           47,764           45,599         
85,000           90,000           1,455,000      578                37,013           71,138           71,138           71,138         


162,174         162,348         1,590,586      58,881           91,166           121,897         254,886         126,525       


11







From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Sources of Funds
    Tax increments
    Exempt computer aid
    Intergovernmental
    Developer guarantees
    Public charges for services
    Contributions from other district
    Transfers from other fund
    Investment income
    Land sales
    Miscellaneous revenues
    Long-term debt issued


Total sources of funds


Uses of Funds
    Capital expenditures
    Administration
    Developer payments
    Debt issuance cost
    Contributions to other district
    Transfer to other funds
    Transfer to Affordable Housing
    Interest on long-term debt
    Principal on long-term debt


Total uses of funds


Fund balance, August 31, 2021


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City


Balance


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds


2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015


206,582$     220,762$     237,690$     243,080$     328,354$     383,151$     501,617$     459,888$     
455              412              345              680              1,723           1,780           1,887           6,040           


-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   16,004         


1,910           -                   -                   -                   -                   11,032         -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   164              920              983              803              157              170              121              


150,667       135,379       -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   4,209           -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1,400,000    1,225,000    -                   


359,614       356,717       238,955       244,743       330,880       1,800,329    1,728,674    482,053       


-                   115,057       292              -                   -                   1,525,884    1,852,530    -                   
785              15,361         1,200           883              41,503         7,308           10,453         3,624           


-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   20,162         -                   


133,893       49,404         237,402       685,553       -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   


42,245         37,507         30,002         20,795         12,798         4,479           27,636         63,901         
139,380       139,388       267,335       221,813       204,750       238,875       193,293       382,744       


316,303       356,717       536,231       929,044       259,051       1,776,546    2,104,074    450,269       


12







From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Sources of Funds
    Tax increments
    Exempt computer aid
    Intergovernmental
    Developer guarantees
    Public charges for services
    Contributions from other district
    Transfers from other fund
    Investment income
    Land sales
    Miscellaneous revenues
    Long-term debt issued


Total sources of funds


Uses of Funds
    Capital expenditures
    Administration
    Developer payments
    Debt issuance cost
    Contributions to other district
    Transfer to other funds
    Transfer to Affordable Housing
    Interest on long-term debt
    Principal on long-term debt


Total uses of funds


Fund balance, August 31, 2021


Refund payable to overlying districts and the City


Balance


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds


Project
Plan


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Totals Estimate


487,847$      492,440$    491,691$   475,729$     494,843$     512,638$     6,713,091$    7,255,578$    
4,007            3,254          3,302         3,382           3,382           3,382           36,383           -                     


-                    -                  -                 2,316           9,391           16,467         28,174           -                     
16,491          16,091        -                 -                   -                   -                   48,586           -                     


-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   12,942           -                     
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   742,340         -                     
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   181,304         -                     


567               1,532          3,149         6,466           1,665           37                68,011           116,833         
52,805          -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   1,383,920      900,000         


-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   148,244         -                     
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   6,257,496      4,851,572      


561,717        513,317      498,142     487,893       509,281       532,524       15,620,491    13,123,983    


-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   5,571,359      4,547,600      
7,608            2,970          910            1,455           950              8,325           152,586         51,500           


-                    -                  16,091       -                   -                   -                   16,091           -                     
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   20,162           344,954         
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   -                   1,106,252      1,140,002      
-                    -                  -                 181,304       -                   -                   181,304         -                     
-                    -                  -                 -                   -                   512,638       512,638         


46,699          37,269        27,718       17,967         8,029           -                   1,423,004      2,003,727      
392,830        403,210      408,661     419,262       425,000       -                   6,257,496      4,851,572      


447,137        443,449      453,380     619,988       433,979       520,963       15,240,892    12,939,355    


379,599         


(379,599)        


-$                   


13







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 3
Detail Schedule of Capital Expenditures
From the Date of Creation Through August 31, 2021


Project
Plan


Actual Estimate


Capital Expenditures
Land acquisition and related activities 1,773,975$        250,000$           
Site development 68,585               215,000             
Infrastructure for business park 1,611,180          1,153,600          
Development incentives -                         75,000               
Develop business park entrance 28,578               50,000               
Economic development revolving loan fund -                         100,000             
Advertising and promotional costs 58,905               210,000             
Discretionary payments -                         1,400,000          
Infrastructure 2,030,136          1,094,000          


Total capital expenditures 5,571,359$        4,547,600$        


14







15 


Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance 


To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues 
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments and the related Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and 
Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin’s Tax Incremental District No. 3 (District) as of 
August 31, 2021 and from the date the District was created through August 31, 2021 and have issued our 
report thereon dated September 8, 2021. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  


In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the District failed to 
comply with Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. However, 
our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we 
performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding the District’s 
noncompliance with the above-referenced statute, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. 


This report is intended solely for the information and use of the city council, management, and the overlapping 
taxing districts and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties. 


Madison, Wisconsin 
September 8, 2021 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.  © 2020 Baker Tilly US, LLP





		1-2.pdf

		Insert Signature

		Office








City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Information 


December 31, 2020 


 
 


 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 
Table of Contents 
December 31, 2020 
 


    Page    


Independent Auditors’ Report 1 


Financial Statements 
 
 Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Balance Sheet 3 


 Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and Net 
to be Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 4 


 Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 5 


 Notes to Financial Statements 6 


Supplementary Information 


 Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses, and Status of Funds  10 


Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 11 







Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


Report on the Financial Statements


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status
of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin's Tax Incremental District No. 6 (the District) as of the year ended
December 31, 2020, and from the date of creation through December 31, 2020 and the related notes to the
financial statements.


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditors' Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Districts's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Districts's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.


Opinion


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 6 and the net project costs to be recovered through
tax increments as of December 31, 2020 and the sources, uses and status of funds from the date of creation
through December 31, 2020, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.


1


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.  © 2020 Baker Tilly US, LLP







Emphasis of Matter


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of City of Stoughton's Tax
Incremental District No. 6 and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of
Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2020, and the changes in financial position, or, where applicable,
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
State of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 


Other Matters


Required Supplementary Information


Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our
opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Districts's basic financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table of
contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.


Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements


We have also issued our report dated September 8, 2021 on our tests of its compliance with Wisconsin State
Statutes Section 66.1105. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 


Madison, Wisconsin
September 8, 2021


2







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 682,981$           
Taxes receivable 149,306             


Total assets 832,287$           


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 36,329$             
Advances from city general fund 140,399             


Total liabilities 176,728             


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 149,306             


Total deferred inflows of resources 149,306             


Fund Balance
Restricted 506,253             


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 832,287$           


See notes to financial statements 
3







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 2,546,895$        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 198,709             
Administration 450                    
Debt issuance cost 36,163               
Interest on long-term debt 44,977               


Total project costs 2,827,194          


Project Revenues
Tax increments 49,368               
Investment income 38,956               
Developer guarantee 52,159               
Land Sales 173,230             
Premium on long-term debt 14,080               
Miscellaneous revenues 21,945               


Total project revenues 349,738             


Net cost recoverable through
TIF increments, December 31, 2020 2,477,456$        


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
General obligation debt 2,983,709$        
Less fund balance (506,253)            


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2020 2,477,456$        


See notes to financial statements 
4







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 49,368$             
Investment income 38,956               
Developer guarantee 52,159               
Miscellaneous revenues 21,945               
Land sales 173,230             
Premium on long-term debt 14,080               
Long-term debt issued 3,123,709          


Total sources of funds 3,473,447          


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 2,546,895          
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 198,709             
Administration 450                    
Debt issuance cost 36,163               
Interest on long-term debt 44,977               
Principal on long-term debt 140,000             


Total uses of funds 2,967,194          


Fund balance, December 31, 2020 506,253$           


See notes to financial statements 
5







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


6 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 6 (the District) conform to 
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton (the City) has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of the District. 
The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the District. The 
accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City.  


Description of Fund and Account Group Structure 


This report contains the financial information of the District. The summary statements were prepared 
from data recorded in the following funds and the City’s long-term debt: 


Debt Service Fund 
Capital Projects Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City's 
basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The District were created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvements costs in a 
designated area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the 
creation date of the District. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the District to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered or until 20 years after the creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at 
the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five 
years before the unextended termination date of the District. 


Original Project Plan 


  Creation Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs  
Last Year to Collect 


Increment 


 
TID No. 6  01/01/2015  09/29/2030  2036 


 
 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


7 


Basis of Accounting 


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., 
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-
term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable or when the 
City is entitled to the aids. 


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future 
years are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments 
receivables as of the date of this report. 


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budgets 


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the District are adopted in the project plan. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the District and may not be comparable to interim results presented 
in this report.  


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as Sources of Funds 
in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as expenditure 
in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


8 


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is 
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the 
long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  


 
2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The District invest their funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments 
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or 
decreases in investment income. 


The District, as funds of the City, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the City. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City as an individual municipality and, accordingly, the amount of 
insured funds is not determinable for the District. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. 
Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the District's expenditures will be retired by tax increments 
accumulated by the District fund. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be made by future 
tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-20 


 
TIF District No. 6          


06/08/17 Promissory Notes, 2.00 - 3.00%  $ 505,000  $ 140,000  $ 365,000 
03/26/19 Promissory Notes, 2.125 - 4.00%   2,618,709   -   2,618,709 


          
Total  $ 3,123,709  $ 140,000  $ 2,983,709 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 6 


Notes to Compiled Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


9 


Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the District are as follows: 


  Principal  Interest  Total 


 
Year ending December 31:          


2021  $ 50,000  $ 83,730  $ 133,730 
2022   341,379   78,234   419,613 
2023   350,345   68,109   418,454 
2024   363,793   56,737   420,530 
2025    377,759   44,263   422,022 
2026 - 2029   1,500,433   68,943   1,569,376 


          
Total  $ 2,983,709  $ 400,016  $ 3,383,725 


 
 
4. Advances From/Due to City General Fund 


The general fund is advancing funds to TIF District No. 6. The amount advanced is determined by the 
deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources since the District's inception. A 
repayment schedule has not been established.  


 
5. Developer Agreements 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement with North American Fur Auction (NAFA) where 
the City shall construct the City improvements and provide a noncash development incentive, by 
conveying a piece of land in the amount of $377,000. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017.  


 
6. Guaranteed Revenue  


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with North American Fur Auction (NAFA). 
The agreement guarantees the assessed value of NAFA’s property will be not less than $1,100,000, 
$3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year 
2019, NAFA shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and 
the tax increment actually levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated. 
The TIF guarantee payment received in 2020 was $51,694. During 2020, NAFA declared bankruptcy. 


 
 
 







SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2020 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Project 
Plan


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Totals Estimate


Sources of Funds
Tax increments -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     24,537$           24,831$           49,368$           5,941,236$      
Investment income -                       -                       -                       -                       30,468             8,488               38,956             -                       
Developer guarantee -                       -                       -                       -                       465                  51,694             52,159             -                       
Miscellaneous revenues -                       -                       21,945             -                       -                       -                       21,945             -                       
Land sales -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       173,230           173,230           -                       
Premium on long-term debt -                       -                       -                       -                       14,080             -                       14,080             -                       
Long-term debt issued -                       -                       505,000           -                       2,618,709        -                       3,123,709        3,560,000        


Total sources of funds -                       -                       526,945           -                       2,688,259        258,243           3,473,447        9,501,236        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       -                       502,650           -                       1,321,123        714,951           2,546,895        4,418,375        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 11,731             6,869               63,704             9,835               81,481             33,260             198,709           155,000           
Administration -                       -                       -                       150                  150                  150                  450                  200,000           
Debt issuance cost -                       -                       3,374               -                       32,789             -                       36,163             -                       
Interest on long-term debt -                       -                       -                       14,676             10,162             20,139             44,977             1,167,861        
Principal on long-term debt -                       -                       -                       45,000             45,000             50,000             140,000           3,560,000        


Total uses of funds 11,731             6,869               569,728           69,661             1,490,705        818,500           2,967,194        9,501,236        


Fund balance, December 31, 2020 506,253$         


See notes to financial statements 
10







11 


Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance 


To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues 
and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and the related Historical Summary of Sources, Uses 
and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin’s Tax Incremental District No. 6 (District) as of 
December 31, 2020 and from the date the District was created through December 31, 2020 and have issued 
our report thereon dated September 8, 2021. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  


In connection with our audit, we noted that the District failed to comply with the following requirement of 
Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105: 


1. City was unable to provide documentation that the first meeting of joint review board was held within
14 days of publication of Class 2 notice.


Our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge as to whether the District failed to comply 
with Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. Accordingly, had 
we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding noncompliance 
with the above-referenced statute, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. 


This report is intended solely for the information and use of the city council, management, and the overlapping 
taxing districts and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties. 


Madison, Wisconsin 
September 8, 2021 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which are 
separate and independent legal entities.  © 2020 Baker Tilly US, LLP





		1-2.pdf

		Audit Report

		Insert Signature

		Office









